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Fort Santo Domingo at Tamsui,
northern Taiwan, has been officially
designated a historical site of the first
rank by the Republic of China’s Ministry
of Interior. It is one of the oldest build-
ings surviving on the island, and is a
relic of the Spanish and Dutch occupa-
tions of Taiwan in the early seventeenth
century (approximating to the late Ming
period in Chinese chronology). The fort
later passed through the hands of the
Ming loyalist Cheng Ch'eng-kung (Kox-
inga), the Ch’ing dynasty authorities and
the British. Only in 1980 did its owner-
ship finally revert to the Republic of
China. Rarely in Taiwan has any histor-
ical building had such a chequered
career involving so many changes of
ownership. To visit Fort Santo Domin-
go today is to turn the pages of three
centuries of Taiwan’s history, and in the
fort’s ancient time-weathered walls we
may read the story of Taiwan's early
settlers and their pioneering deeds.
Although the fort was built by wester-
ners, reliable documentary evidence indi-
cates that most of the artisans were

Chinese. The construction of Fort Santo
Domingo in fact encompassed the efforts
of many different people over a period
of three centuries.

Fort Santo Domingo is situated in
the famous old harbour town of Tamsui,
once also known as Huwei. Before the
Spanish occupation the area was inhab-
ited by Chinese and aboriginal peoples,
and it was the site of one of Taiwan's
earliest established settlements. The
fort stands on a small hill overlooking
the town and the Tamsui River, with
Mt. Kuanyin visible in the distance.
Sandwiched between mountains and the
sea, it enjoys not only a position of stra-
tegic importance but one of outstanding
natural beauty as well. The sunset as
seen from its walls is considered to be
one of the finest views available north of
the Tamsui River, since from the fort
one has an unobstructed view westwards
towards the splendour of the evening
sky.
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Fort Santo Domingo in the
late Ch'ing period.
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Distant View of Fort
Santo Domingo & the
British consular residence,
early 20 th century.






@

[0}
N

3us Yy orw-Juny mswe]

—ps BHCRURIT BT REREEMIEA » HEEREAEE T E
\ %> HEE - EPIREBYE o CRTREMIIEE ~ L
—Le S LA R Y > FRhER T LTS,
E MRS o BATEHFURCIERYE REAEUREREL » I
DT o At ALBRHEESRMBIEEE o

EER BRI OHEER LM » et DRI - NERE
PREHES BEE » B RPBURE TR o EREEIEREE » 7]
BEER - ERMBATEREIIT ARERE SR » RSER=
ElipE 2

HEFEEEETERAITER - ©REFRAL TR ER
PRI a8 - SHREFTS AR » TMEMAGLIREHEER
[FIRF AT ERGER  EREENEHD R IME L AL B R RAEH
TAARAT o S RAVIRES REE IR A - BHEEER T BRI

& o

The fort site is well preserved today,
and its environs are pleasantly tranquil.
Within the site are to be found the main
building of Fort Santo Domingo itself,
the buildings of the former British con-

sular residence, and other items of his-

torical interest such as the southern
gateway of the enclosure and a number
of antique cannons. The fort’s architec-
ture has considerable historical, cultural
and artistic value, and also illustrates
many technical features involved in the
western construction of fortifications in
the seventeenth century. Today ancient
fortifications of this type are far and
few between anywhere in the world.
Clearly, the utmost care must be devoted
to its preservation and protection.

The main fort building is a square
tower with an outer wall of red brick,
topped by a parapet with embrasures
and two corner watchtowers with firing
slits. Its interior ceilings take the form
of domed vaults, quite different from
normal Chinese buildings. The walls are
extremely strong and thick, massive
enough to withstand cannon fire. This
building was completed by the Dutch on
a foundation left by the Spanish, and
dates from over 340 year$ ago.

The old consular residence stands
slightly to the east of the fort. This is a
two-storey red brick building in the
western style, built by the British in the
late nineteenth century. Its colonnaded
verandahs with their contrasting arch-
ways are rhythmically pleasing to the
eye as well as lending the building pro-
tection from either sun or rain. Further
graceful touches are provided by the
monograms and emblems on carved
brickwork plaques, and by the vase-
shaped balustrades. The interior stair-
cases and fireplaces are also decor-
atively finished, and the building as a
whole gives an impression of quiet
refinement.
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View of Fort Santo

Domingo & the British

consular residence from the gun
emplacement.
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The main entrance to the site is by
the southern gate. This is a small cas-
tellated gateway built of stone quarried
from Mt. Kuanyin. It is extremely
sturdy and remains the only wholly
Chinese edifice surviving on the site
today.

In addition there are a number of
antique cannons in various parts of the
grounds. Some of these bear inscriptions
relating to the Chinese garrison
stationed at Tamsui in Chia-ch’ing 18
(1813). All are evidence of a determined
effort at that period of the Ch’ing
dynasty to defend Chinese territory and
fend off any threats from outside. To
see them still standing here inspires
many a nostalgic thought of China’s past
history.

Following an initial expert assess-
ment commissioned by the Council for
Cultural Planning and Development,
Executive Yuan, responsibility for the

restoration and management of Fort
Santo Domingo was taken over by the
Ministry of Interior a few years ago.
With the completion of restoration work
in late 1984 the site was opened to the
public. The aim of this handbook is to
provide visitors with a better under-
standing of this important monument
through illustrations and explanatory
text. It is hoped that the visitor to this
historical site, like the reader of an
absorbing book, may constantly discover
fresh things of interest here and return
to explore it again and again.

AREFEPEEE
FiRZ K& -

Cannon used by Ch'ing
dynasty garrison.
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Southern stone gateway,
built 1724.
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Isometric cutaway plan of Fort Santo Domingo.

OFZ =50 Sighting in terrace wall.
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@OFHE Terrace.
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Tamsui Hung-mao Ch'eng

# A 1 Entrance to first floor.
O—# A0 Entrance to ground floor.

(3 Jomd
OFE Jail cell.

Qs ERMELE Thick wall with outer layer
of stone and inner lining of brick.

Ot Crenellated parapet.
OLZE Lookout tower.

O RIHLTE Brick-paved arch.
@RTETE Rooftop terrace.
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Perspectival plan of the fort and consulate site, Tamsui.

O®EMARn
Southern entrance
gate.
OEREMN
Servants' living
quarters.
OIEWTE
Fort Santo Domingo
OBEFEE

Consular Residence.
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Tamsui’'s Historical
Background
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Tamsui, also formerly known as
Huwei, was the first harbour to be fully
developed in northern Taiwan. As long
ago as the late Ming dynasty, around the
turn of the seventeenth century, Chinese
settlers had established themselves here
and were engaged in barter trade with
the aboriginal inhabitants. Tamsui lies
at the mouth of the Tamsui River lead-

ing out of the Taipei basin, with Mt. Ta-

tun to the north and Mt. Kuanyin to the
south. Geographically it thus enjoys a
situation of considerable natural beauty.
Its proximity to Foochow, the provincial
capital of Fukien across the Taiwan
Strait, was also an important factor in
Tamsui's becoming established as the ol-
dest town in northern, Taiwan.

The settlements inhabited by Tam-
sui's indigenous population of plains
aborigines and early Chinese settlers
were mostly grouped along the north
bank of the Tamsui River, in the area
which now constitutes Tamsui town cen-
tre. When Spanish forces invaded in the
early Ch'ung-chen period (1628-1644)
and established a fortification on the
small hill nearest the harbour, the
quayside was still located on the north-
ern bank. Later the Spanish were

expelled by the Dutch, and they in turn
were put to flight by Cheng Ch’eng-kung
(Koxinga), after which increasing num-
bers of Chinese settlers established them-
selves in Tamsui. A change occurred in
the harbour arrangements in the early
Ch'ing dynasty (1644-1911) when a Ch'ing
naval base was established at Pali,
on the south bank of the Tamsui River.
The water was deeper there, and so the
merchant ships plying between northern
Taiwan and the Chinese mainland also
docked at Pali. When the harbour at
Pali began silting up during the early
Chia-ch’ing period (1796-1820) the ships
switched back to docking on the north
bank at Huwei, and the town began to
prosper. Chinese settlers from Chuan-
chow, southern Fukien, set up a temple
close to the harbour dedicated to the
goddess Matsu—the Fu Yu Temple.
Meanwhile the streets and lanes of Tam-
sui gradually spread up the nearby hill-

side slopes, in the area of modern
Ch'ung-chien Street and Ch’ing-shui
Street.

FAEFE AR KA R
HERTLE -

Kuang-hsu period
topographical

chart of Tamsui River &
Fort Santo Domingo.
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Tamsui harbour ¢. 1910.
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Yinshan Temple, Tamsui.
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Lungshan Temple, Tamsui.
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By the Tao-kuang period (1821-
1850) Tamsui had become an outer har-
bour for Taipei. Merchants gathered
there in large numbers and ships prolifer-
ated at the dockside, while the town rap-
idly prospered. This was the period
when several temples and ancestral
shrines were built, including the Yinshan
Temple, the Lungshan Temple and the
Wen Ch’'ang Shrine, all of which now
form part of Tamsui's historical heri-
tage.

WK 2 R B R E -

Tamsui Presbyterian church
and the former Mackay Clinic.

Tamsui was officially opened as a
commercial port in Hsien-feng 10 (1860)
when a customs post was established.
From this point on, trade prospered even
more. Branches of foreign trading com-
panies were established in the town for
the large scale purchase of tea and cam-
phor. As. trade flourished, Tamsui
became a bridgehead for foreign culturai
influences. The British leased the Fort
Santo Domingo site for the construction
of their consulate, and the Canadian mis-
sionary Robert Mackay built a church
and a seminary nearby which he named
Oxford College. These western style
buildings incorporate certain oriental
features due to the employment of
Chinese workmen in their construction,
and so may justly be regarded as exam-
ples of cultural interchange. Today
these also constitute monuments of his-
torical importance in Tamsui, and are
rewarding places to visit.

T+ A AT HR K AL REARIL o
Ships in Tamsui harbour, 19 th
century.
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Oxford College.
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When the Franco-Chinese war broke
out in Kuang-hsil 10 (1884) Keelung was
occupied by French forces, while Tamsui
was sealed off by a French naval fleet
which also bombarded the town. Since
no gun emplacements were yet ready the
Chinese defending forces were in a weak
position. Fortunately Liu Ming-ch'uan,
who as governor of Fukien was ordered
to garrison Taiwan, immediately
proceeded to the island to take charge of
defence strategy. Tamsui was stoutly
defended by its commandant Sun K’ai-
hua, resulting in an ignominious with-
drawal by the French. In popular legend
this Chinese victory was attributed to
supernatural intervention by the deity
Ch'ing-shui Tsu-shih, to whom the Tsu-
shih Temple was later built in Rice Mar-
ket Street (modern Ch'ing-shui Street).
This venerable temple has since become
one of Tamsui’s most famous and popu-
lar centres of pagan worship. Finally, in
order to reinforce Tamsui’s defences
Governor Liu Ming-ch’'uan ordered that
a massive gun emplacement be built, for
which he personally penned an inscrip-
tion reading 'Key Northern Gate’. This
is also one of the town's important mon-
uments,

Looking back over Tamsui's past
history, one realises that this is a place
which not only possesses a long history
of growth and development, but has also
acted as a forum for east-west cultural
contact. While Fort Santo Domingo rep-
resents the encroachment of foreign
power and influence, the Matsu and Lung
shan Temples embody the deep-rooted
and sturdy growth of Chinese culture.
At the same time Governor Liu’s mas-
sive gun emplacement bears witness to
the heroic determination among Chinese
leaders of the late Ch'ing reform move-
ment to resist foreign pressure. It is
from the interweaving of these three cur-
rents that Tamsui’s unique cultural heri-
tage was born.

HAERTERIELE
wACIRRE A E TS o
View of Tamsui River towards

Kuantu from the roof of Fort
Santo Domingo.
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Tamsui gun emplacement
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By the early seventeenth century
Chinese fishermen living in the coastal
areas of Fukien were beginning to put in
at a number of harbours in Taiwan,
which they sailed to via Penghu (the
Pescadores). Meanwhile several of the
western maritime powers, namely Por-
tugal, Spain and Holland, were despatch-
ing naval fleets to the Far East in search
of profitable trade. It was the eventual
meeting of early Chinese settlers and
western trading fleets in Taiwan that
marked the prelude to Taiwan's modern
history.

As early as the Yuan dynasty (1279-
1368) a Chinese military inspectorate
was established on Penghu, and during
the Ming dynasty (1368-1644) there was
a constant influx into Taiwan of Chinese
settlers from Fukien and Kwangtung,
despite an official ban on sea travel
across the Taiwan Strait that was in
effect at the time. In due course, the
eastward encroachment of the western
maritime powers made the island of Taj-
wan an attractive prize. In T'ien-ch'i 4
(1624), in the late Ming dynasty, the
Dutch withdrew from Penghu and oc-
cupied Tayuan (modern An-p'ing) in
southern Taiwan. Then in T’ien-ch'i 6
(1626) Spanish forces based in the
Philippines sailed up the east coast of
Taiwan and occupied Chilung (modern
Keelung), on the island’s northern tip.



In both cases the occupying forces
busied themselves in the construction of
extensive fortifications of their harbours
to guard against attack. Two years
later, in Ch'ung-chen 1 (1628), the
Spanish further occupied Tamsui. Thus
during the 1620’s the Dutch and Spanish
acquired bases in southern and northern
Taiwan respectively, and thereafter
Chinese fishermen, early Chinese settlers
and the plains aborigines of Taiwan
were all alike subjected to foreign rule.
At the same time the Taiwan Strait was
the haunt of marauding pirates, who fre-
quently disturbed maritime commerce
and occasionally also joined forces with
the Dutch and Spanish to cause
headaches for the late Ming emperors.

+E AT HE
BRI K R $EHEALE o
17 th century map of Taiwan
showing Tamsui & Keelung.
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A few decades later, following the
invasion of northern China by Ch'ing
forces and the extinction of the Ming
dynasty, a remnant army loyal to the
Ming was led to Taiwan by Cheng
Ch' eng-kung (Koxinga). In Yung-li 15
(1661) he directly confronted the Dutch
forces occupying southern Taiwan and
forced them to withdraw from the island
altogether.

Thus Taiwan in the early seven-
teenth century found itself under the
sway of two western maritime powers,
with the Dutch and Spanish each control-
ling separate parts of the island. Under
the resulting dual colonial administra-
tion there flourished an active commerce
in which western silver and spices were
traded with Chinense and Japanese mer-
chants in exchange for silk and sugar.

AURREEENSELRE -

Late Ch'ing artistic adaptation of panorama of Fort Zeelandia, Tainan.

Taiwan not only served as a commercial
supply depot but became an exporter in
its own right of deerskins, dried fish and
sugar cane. The Dutch initiated an
incentive policy to attract increasing
numbers of ethnic Chinese settlers to
Taiwan to open the island up to agricul-
ture, and the coastal region of southern
Taiwan saw a number of Chinese towns
and settlements spring up. In the north,
large numbers of Chinese settlers began
farming in the area of Keelung and
Tamsui in the mid-seventeenth century.
In order to consolidate their power
and with the idea of permanent occupa-
tion in mind, the foreign colonial rulers
quickly set about constructing massive
forts and defensive works. In southern
Taiwan the Dutch first built Fort Zeelan-
dia (at modern An-p'ing, outside

F 7 785 R STRE P AY
B2 S IRRE o
Dutch copperplate panorama of
Fort Zeelandia, Tainan.




fibfi2 (B ELEE o

SIRIEEMIGER T BE RS » WIERA(GEITH » Mg
FEEEEREIR IR E R TS o 7o B SETE 1S VR 0 2 3 AR S 0 (

Zeelandia * E15 & B L5 E)

Provintia » ENS G RIREAE)

R SN
IN—/N

» AN B B CRRE (

o FEALERRIPEFL AF A PR S S A (
) EREEEM RS BLETER % & (San Salvador ) ° E8H

RIICE  (—ANZ\E) NIERAREESEEH (Santo  Domin
go) o B M eI B B E e 0 BEEEEBRIGST o T

B3R ER T 2R A BRI AR o

Tainan) and then Fort Provintia (in
modern Tainan city centre). Meanwhile
in the north the Spanish built Fort San
Salvador on She-liao Island, Keelung, in
T'ien-ch'i 6 (1626), followed by Fort
Santo Domingo at Tamsui in Ch’ung-

chen 1 (1628). These western-style forti-
fications were strongholds of colonial
rule in their day, and were garrisoned by

formidable military forces. Moreover,

the construction of all these forts was
entirely along European lines.
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Seventeenth-century  Dutch and
Spanish forts were often built to a
square design, with projections jutting
out from each of the four corners.
These served as firing platforms and
were equipped with large cannon, assist-
ing in increasing their range. The forti-
fications built by the Dutch in Indonesia
and by the Spanish in the Philippines all
shared this same overall design. The
materials used consisted of red bricks,
composite mortar and stone, as may be
seen today in the castle ruins at Manila.
In Taiwan, partial sections of the walls
of Fort Zeelandia still remain standing,
while the foundations of the Dutch fort
at Feng-kuei-wei in Penghu have also
recently been examined, and both point
to a basically square plan incorporating
projecting gun platforms. As for the
Spanish-built Fort San Salvador,
although the original site has been ob-
literated, old documents and plans indi-
cate that it also shared a similar sguare
design with gun platforms. [Note 1]

The design of Fort Santo Domingo
at Tamsui was somewhat exceptional.
It was built on a smaller scale than any
of the others, and despite its square
shaped tower, it lacked projecting gun
platforms at the corners.

In addition to the above, a number
of smaller fortified outposts were built
by the Dutch and Spanish in the first
half of the seventeenth century in the
vicinity of their more important gar-
risoned forts, for defensive purposes.
These include Fort Victoria at Keelung
and Fort Utrecht near Fort Zeelandia.
The necessary building materials, such
as red bricks, compound mortar and
lime , were for the most part shipped
from their colonial territories in South-
east Asia. Probably stone was the only
material obtained locally in Taiwan.

FEHISF ATEHEEERT
BINE  HAERE
BN -

Pian of the Spanish
fort at Keelung showing
jts square plan with
projecting gun emplace-
ments.

TR ATESSINER 22
KRR T S 7 B
FREEsam -

Dutch fortress in
America similar to ones
built in Taiwan.
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The Spanish established a presence
in Tamsui in 1628, following their occu-
pation of Keelung. A Spanish expedi-
tionary force sailed into the mouth of
the Tamsui River and explored the
upper reaches of the river. They chose a
hill on the north bank of the river mouth
as the best site for a fort, which they
proceeded to build on the remains of an
old fortification constructed previously
either by local aborigines or by Chinese
settlers. This fort they then named Fort
Santo Domingo. In Chinese it is called
Hung Mao Ch'eng or 'Fort of the Red-

headed Ones’, a name which derives
from the Chinese term for the Dutch
—Hung Mao Fan or 'Red-headed Barbar-
ians'—and which was also applied to the
forts built by the Dutch. Although Fort
Santo Domingo was built initially by the
Spanish it was later taken over and
largely rebuilt by the Dutch, and the
Chinese name has stuck ever since.
[Note 2]

According to contemporary records,
the materials used by the Spanish in the
initial building of the fort included clay,
reeds, bamboo and wood. It was a
square construction, but apparently
rather crude and simple. Armed resis-
tance to the Spanish was sparked by
their exaction of arduous taxes from the
aboriginal inhabitants of Tamsui. In
Ch’ ung-chen 9 (1636) a force of aborigines
attacked the fort under cover of dark-
ness, killing some 30 Spaniards and raz-
ing the fort to the ground.
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Restoration work on the burnt-out
fort was started in the following year by
the Spanish commander of the Tamsui
garrison. In order to improve its
defences stronger materials such as stone
and lime were substituted. The walls,
which may well have kept to the origi-
nal square plan, were raised to a height
of over 20 feet.

Having reinforced their fort at Tam-
sui, the Spanish continued their explora-
tion of the hinterland up the Tamsui
River. Here they discovered numerous
settlements in the Taipei plain, and once

they had established a route to their
base at Keelung along the Keelung River
the entire Taipei region quickly came
under their control. Meanwhile this
rapid expansion of Spanish influence
was a source of concern to the Dutch in
southern Taiwan. The two colonial
powers were in conflict over their rival
claims to Taiwan’s natural resources,

besides which they were divided by reli-
gious differences, the Dutch being
Protestant and the Spanish Roman Cath-
olic. The Dutch were no doubt also sen-
sitive to Spanish expansion since the
Netherlands itself had only broken free
of Spanish domination in 1581. Conse-
quently, in Ch’'ung-chen 15 (1642) Dutch
forces arrived in northern Taiwan and
compelled the Spanish to withdraw from
the island altogether. The Dutch first
attacked Keelung, and the outnumbered
Spanish garrison there quickly surrender-
ed. Soon after they also abandoned Fort
Santo Domingo at Tamsui, which now
fell into the hands of the Dutch.
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Upon capturing Fort Santo Domingo
the Dutch became fully aware of its stra-
tegic importance and decided to rebuild
it. Following the Spanish withdrawal
the fort was left in ruins, and the Dutch
plan for its rebuilding was set in motion
in Ch'ung-chen 16 (1643). Their first
step was to assemble the loyal aborigi-
nal leaders in the vicinity of Tamsui and
requisition their assistance. In addition
they shipped over 1,500 sacks of lime
and other building materials to Tamsui
and employed mostly Chinese artisans
for their workforce. The first stone was
laid on May 7, 1644, and construction
work proceeded thereafter on a grand
scale. [Note 3]

Was the site of the fort now being
built by the Dutch identical to that oc-
cupied by the remains of the original
Spanish fort? No precise answer can be
given as the historical documents are
silent on this point. However, the Dutch
accounts do mention that the site chosen
dominated the hill, with steeply falling
slopes on the west and south sides, and
that it was a position which offered the
finest vantage point for observation.
Comparison of this description with the
present topography of the hill would sug-
gest that the forts built successively by
the Spanish and the Dutch may only
have overlapped in part.
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Old view of Tamsui River and Mt.
Kuanyin from Fort Santo Domingo.
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Using large amounts of building
materials shipped in from outside ,
together with a workforce of Chinese
artisans, the Dutch now began to con-
struct an impregnable fortress. How-
ever, work did not proceed entirely
smoothly and delays were caused by the
loss of materials or for other reasons.
By late December 1644 the walls had
reached a height of eight feet, and the
first vault was begun. By the end of the
following year the work was still unfin-
ished, partly due to heavy rains. A rea-
sonable estimate for the final completion
of building would be some time in 1646.

‘I'he completed fort now became the
most striking building in Tamsui har-
bour, and was home to a permanent gar-
rison of about 80 Dutch troops. This
was the period when the Dutch East
India Company reached the height of its
power in Taiwan, contrelling the hub of
trade between China, Japan and South-
east Asia. Dutch penetration of Taiwan
was extended to the island’s east coast
and mountainous interior. A map dated
1654 showing Tamsui, its neighbouring
settlements and Chilung Island (preser-
ved in the National Archive at The
Hague) is the first to depict the actual
appearance of Fort Santo Domingo. It
shows the fort on the summit of a hill as
a square fortress covered by a steeply
pitched roof, with a Dutch flag flying
from a flagpole set up below the front of
the walls. The technique whereby a
square fortification is covered by a steep
pyramid-shaped roof is often to be seen
in sixteenth-century Dutch castles, one
famous example being that of Brederode
Castle. Hence we may suppose that the
flat roof of Fort Santo Domingo as seen
today was once surmounted by a steeply
pitched roof of wooden construction.
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Brederode Castle, Holland,

with pitched roof.
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A EELRTEIE -
17 th century Dutch map show-

ing Fort Santo Domingo with
pitched roof.
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Fort Santo Domingo Under
Cheng Ch’eng-kung
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The Ming loyalist Cheng Ch’eng-
kung (Koxinga) launched his campaign
against the Dutch on Taiwan in Yung-li
15 (1661). He landed his troops at Lu-
erh-men, attacked Fort Provintia and
laid seige to Fort Zeelandia for nine
months, resulting in the capitulation of
the Dutch in the following year. The
Dutch commander, General Frederick
Coyett, agreed to cede all the Dutch for-
tresses in Taiwan to Cheng Ch'eng-kung.
After this the Dutch troops and colonial
administrators, amounting to over 1,000
persons, set sail from Tainan on a fleet
of eight ships.

Despite the complete withdrawal of
the Dutch forces in Tainan, the northern
strongholds of Chilung and Tamsui were
still garrisoned by Dutch troops. Ulti-
mately the Dutch recognised that their
situation was untenable and withdrew
all their remaining personnel in 1668.
The development of Taiwan under the
Ming loyalist administration was concen-
trated primarily in the south of the
island, and it was only as late as Yung-li
37 (1683) that Commander Ho Yu was
ordered to garrison Tamsui. Fort Santo
Domingo, which had since fallen into
decay, was now restored to some extent,
When the Dutch forces withdrew they
had deliberately sabotaged the fortifica-
tions, as well as burning whatever equip-
ment they could not carry away with
them.

Later that same year, however, the
Ming loyalists under Cheng Ch’eng-kung'’s
grandson Cheng K'o-shuang were
forced to capitulate to the Ch’ing forces.
Taiwan was thereafter incorporated into
the Chinese empire under the Ch'ing
dynasty, and Fort Santo Domingo was
once again to be neglected for a long
period of time.



SRR o
Scale model of Fort Zeelandia,
Tainan.
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Taiwan was formally incorporated
into the territory of the Ch’ing dynasty
in Kang-hsi 23 (1684), when it was
placed under Fukien province. The
island was administered by the provin-
cial governor of Fukien, and a Taiwan
and Amoy military defence circuit was
set up to take charge of all civilian and
military administrative matters. Later,
in the early Yung-cheng period (1723-
1735), Taiwan was placed under the dual
military jurisdiction of a northern and a
southern regional vice commander.
After being neglected for 40 years, Fort
Santo Domingo was refurbished in
Yung-cheng 2 (1724) by Wang Ch'ien,
subprefectural magistrate of Tamsui. At
this time four outer fortified gateways

were added, two larger gateways on the
east and west sides of the precinct and
two smaller gateways on the north and
south sides. This seems to have been
with the intention of expanding the fort
into an important defensive bastion.
Today only the southern outer gateway
survives, a stone-built fortified gate in
the Chinese style with crenellations run-
ning along the top.

1930 F RFTLERE
WAKEBRBEWL -
View of Tamsui harbour
and Mt. Kuanyin,

c. 1930.

FLERZ BARLENE
BB - #EE5
B mEER o
Centuries-old perimeter
wall built of stone and
lime mortar.
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During the Chia-ch'ing period (1796-
1820) a new gun platform was built on
the eastern slope of the hillside below
the fort, which was now garrisoned by
the assistant brigade commander of
naval forces for Huwei. An inscription
on one of the cannon which is now dis-
played in the grounds alongside Fort
Santo Domingo reads as follows: “Can-
non of 800 chin in weight, cast in Chia-
ch’ing 18 [1813] for Tamsui garrison,
northern Taiwan.” Clearly this cannon
was one of those intended for the use of
the Huwei naval garrison.

At the outbreak of the Opium War
between Britain and China in Tao-kuang
20 (1840), the commandant of the Tai-
wan military defence circuit, Yao Ying,
took precautions to strengthen the
defences of Taiwan's harbours. At Tam-
sui the old gun platform was armed with
20 cannon of various sizes and manned
by a garrison of 300 troops, while a
naval force numbering several hundred
men was stationed in the harbour. The
British, hpwever, attacked only Chilung,
leaving Tamsui untouched.

When China signed the Treaty of
Tientsin with Britain and France in
Hsien-feng 10 (1860), providing for the
opening up of several Chinese trading
ports, the Taiwan harbours of Chilung
(Keelung), Huwei (Tamsui), An-p'ing
(Tainan) and Takou (Kaohsiung) were
included in the protocol. Once Tamsui
was declared an open port, the British
leased Fort Santo Domingo in 1868 to
serve as the British Consulate and under-
took a major refurbishment of the long-
neglected site.  After many ups and
downs, Fort Santo Domingo was on the
threshold of a new era in which it was
to appear in a fresh guise. The British
called it the 'Old Dutch Fort'.

HEBW TR
B o

Gun emplacement below
Fort Santo Domingo.
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Having leased the Fort Santo
Domingo site, the British stationed a
consul there and began active refurbish-
ment of the 'Old Dutch Fort’, A number
of boundary stones still standing in the
grounds today marked with Queen Victo-
ria’s monogram VR ('Victoria Regina’)
and the date 1868 record this transfer of
ownership. The first consul, William
Gregory, set up his office in the fort
together with a staff of customs officers.
The consul was responsible hot only for
foreign affairs matters but for regulating
trade and trying legal cases that came
before him. The unequal treaty that
China had signed with the foreign
powers provided for extraterritorial resi-
dential zones for foreigners. If any civil
dispute arose, jurisdiction lay with the
foreign consul. Therefore the first floor
of Fort Santo Domingo was converted
by the British into offices, while the
ground floor was divided up into a num-
ber of brick-walled jail cells.

What of the fort’s exterior? It is
difficult to gain any accurate idea of the
fort’s appearance from the outside prior
to its refurbishment by the British, but
local gazetteers of the Ch’ing period
mention that it had fallen into a ruined
state, with walls in the natural colours
of red brick and white lime and the tops
of the walls overgrown with vegetation.
The British spent 150 taels on the build-
ing’s refurbishment, the main changes
being as follows.

L Ep HhEE
VRS NG 2
Boundary stone with

Queen Victoria's
monogram
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1.The exterior walls of the fort
were replastered and painted red, a tra-
ditional colour of old fortifications in
Britain.

2.A terrace was added on the south
side incorporating a staircase to provide
direct access to the first floor. The ter-
race was built in red brick and included
a battlemented parapet with firing slits.

3. The ground floor was divided into
brick-walled cells for the imprisonment
of convicted foreign nationals. Each cell
door was fitted with a peep-hole and a
hatch for sending in food.

4. The rooftop parapets were conver-
ted into British-style battlements. Two
brick watchtowers were also added, one
at the northeastern and one at the south-
western corner, supported by projecting
stone corbels.

5.A tall flagpole was erected on the
flat rooftop terrace from which the
Union Jack was flown as a sign of the
British right of permanent residence

6.A small storde-built annexe was
added on the western side housing living
quarters for domestic staff and the
kitchen

7. Three of the stone perimeter gates
erected by the Chinese in 1724 were
demolished, leaving only the southern
gateway as the main entrance to the pre-
cinct. A path led from the southern gate
to a jetty, where a stone boathouse was
built.

HEHTEFURE
Fort Santo Domingo,
south side with
verandah,
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While this refurbishment introduced
many external alterations to Fort Santo
Domingo, including the replastering of
the white walls vermilion red, the main
structure remained essentially as it was
created by the Dutch. With its basic
structure left largely intact, the fort
stands today as a valuable relic of the
past.

Following its restoration Fort Santo
Domingo was praised in verse by
Chinese literati. It was also visited by
the British explorer Pickering, who
describes it in his account as being in
good condition except for some interior
dampness. [Note 4]

During the Kuang-hsii period (1875-
1908) the British became aware of the
need to expand their consulate as trade
through the port of Tamsui was rapidly
flourishing with growing tea and cam-
phor exports from northern Taiwan. In
Kuang-hsti 17 (1891) they built a two-
storey red brick building in the Eur-
opean style on open ground just to the
east of Fort Santo Domingo. This was
to serve as a new consular residence.

With China’s defeat in Kuang-hsii 21
(1895) in the Sino-Japanese War, Ta-
iwan was ceded to Japan under the pro-
visions of the Treaty of Shimonoseki.
However, Fort Santo Domingo continued
to function as the British Consulate. A
hillside road was constructed, and a
number of smaller buildings were erect-
ed within the precinct as accommodation
for officials and domestic staff. Today
these brick buildings are used for public
facilities, such as the ticket office and
toilets.

MEBERIEEEER o

Grounds between the British

consular residence(left)and
Fort Santo Domingo(right).
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Carriageway leading up to
Fort Santo Domingo.
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Relations between Britain and Japan
were mostly cordial during the period of
Japan’s colonial administration on Ta-
iwan. In 1896 the British hoped to sell
off Fort Santo Domingo to the Japanese
authorities, but the plan was never
realised and the fort continued to be
used by the British an part of their con-
sulate. British ships frequently put in at
Tamsui harbour, and in due course the
consulate also dealt with foreign rela:
tions and trade matters on behalf of
Spain, France and the Netherlands. At
the outbreak of the Pacific War in 1941
when Japan declared war against Britain
and the United States, the British Con-
sulate at Tamsui was closed down and
the buildings sealed.

During Japan’s colonial occupation
of Taiwan (1895-1945) a number of addi-
tions were made on the Fort Santo
Domingo site. More servants' accommo-
dation was built, and the terrace on the
south side was covered with a roof to
afford protection from sun and rain. A
tennis was laid down in the
grounds and the gardens were extensive-
ly planted with flowering shrubs, giving
something of a country house air. In
1937 the Japanese architectural historian
Fujishima Ijiro visited the fort and car-
ried out a survey of it. His account
describes the walls as being vermilion
red and the interior as being offices fit-
ted with fireplaces, all as we see it
today. The sounds of a piano were to
be heard drifting over from the consular
residence, contributing to the atmosphere
of leisurely refinement which had settled
over this three hundred year-old fortress.
[Note 5]
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Fort Santo Domingo
the British consular

residence, early 20 th
Century,
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Fort Santo Domingo c.1920, with verandah fully roofed over.
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With Taiwan’s retrocession to the
Republic of China at the end of the Sec-
ond World War, the British Consulate at
Fort Santo Domingo was reopened in
1946. Later, after diplomatic relations
between Britain and the Republic of
China were broken off, the British left
their consulate in 1972 and asked Aus-
tralia to take over management of the
buildings. In due course the United
States was asked to take over, and own-
ership of the site formally reverted to
the Republic of China on June 30, 1980.
This marked the end of several centuries
during which Fort Santo Domingo,
dominating the skyline over Tamsui
with its high, impenetrablewalls, had
been invested with a veil of mystery
behind which few local people had ever
looked.

In 1983, after an initial assessment
by the Council for Cultural Planning and
Development, Executive Yuan, Fort
Santo Domingo was officially designated
a historical site of the first rank by the
Republic of China’s Ministry of Interior.
A panel of experts was commissioned to
carry out a detailed study of the fort
and map out a restoration plan. The
restoration work was finally completed
at the end of 1984, with the interior
being furnished along the lines of its for-
mer use. It was then opened for sight-
seeing. At last this old fortress, with all
its intimate associations over three cen-
turies with Taiwan's foreign relations,
had opened its doors to the public.
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Verandah, consular residence.
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Fort Santo Domingo is Taiwan's ol-
dest complete building. Although the
island’'s aboriginal inhabitants and the
early Chinese settlers were active here
long before the arrival of the Spanish
and Dutch, nothing remains that rivals
Fort Santo Domingo in terms of solidity
of construction and more or less intact
preservation. The fort dates back some
350 years, during which it was rebuilt
and restored in turn by the Spanish, the
Dutch, the Ming loyalists under Cheng
Ch'eng-kung and his descendants, the
Ch’ing authorities and the British.
Various changes and additions were
made at different periods.

The site of Fort Santo Domingo
proper occupies the western end of a hill.
The hillside slopes steeply away on the
northern, western and southern sides of
the fort, providing a natural defensive
advantage. From the rooftop terrace

there is an unobstructed view over the
mouth of the Tamsui River, and we may
imagine that in the past a few cannon
placed here could easily dominate access
to the harbour. Today it provides an
unrivalled position from which to enjoy
one of the splendid views of the sunset
for which Tamsui is famous. This sight
is praised in the words of an old poem,
‘Sunset from the Garrison Tower".

“To this high vantage point, perched
between clouds and sea,

We climb—old friends—to watch
the setting sun suffuse the sky.

A line of geese fly overhead, a calli-
graphic stroke askew;

Six sails along the river mark the
boats returning home.

The legacy of bygone wars, this
lonely fortress stands;

Over motley homesteads far below
the evening mist descends.

On land and sea, our nation’s battle
fires are quenched;

White-headed we recall the years
when we bore halberds too.” (Note 6)
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Fort Santo Domingo from the consular
residence verandah, K
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Sunset over the Tamsui River.
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In horizontal section, the fort’s main
building is a square measuring 15.25
metres along each side. From the west
side one faces towards the Taiwan
Strait, while the south side looks down
over the Tamsui River towards Mt.
Kuanyin in the distance. The walls are a
massive two metres thick, and employ a
construction which is part stone, part
brick.(I‘he inner sections of the walls are
built in red brick in order to create
vaulting, whereas the outer sections are
mostly built of stone with a small
admixture of brick. The outer surface is
faced with plaster painted over in ver-
milion red. Apparently the bricks were
shipped in from the Dutch colony of
Batavia, Indonesia, while the stone was
obtained locally.

The fort’s foundations are dug very
deep, and consist of layers of brick. On
this foundation rest the stone walls,\)ver
six feet thick, which in former times
would have been impregnable to enemy
bombardment. Deep ditches dug on the
east and north sides are another defen-
sive measure designed to prevent any
enemy from approaching without the
greatest difficulty.

The fort stands about 13 metres
high, and has only two floors. The
ground floor consists of two parallel
vaults running east-west, with access at
both ends. The first floor similarly con-
sists of two parallel vaults, but aligned
on a north-south axis. Thus the vaulted
ceilings on both floors are at right-
angles to one another. Why should such
a complex design have been necessary?
The answer lies in the laws of physics
whereby these contrary alignments help
to reinforce the building’s solidity,
preventing it splitting in two in case of
earthquake.

HEHEEAE AN
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Fort Santo Domingo,
southwest corner.
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Naturally such an unusual design
presents many problems to the builder.
The Dutch account of the construction
340 years ago mentions that an entire
half year was required to finish just one
vault. When we visit the fort today, we
should take careful note of this vaulted
construction, '

The ground floor is divided into four
chambers, two of which were converted

into jail cells during the fort’s refurbish-

ment by the British. Any British mari-
ner or merchant convicted of an offence
in northern Taiwan during the latter
nineteenth century was liable to be
sentenced by the consul to a term of
imprisonment in these cells. A small
ground-floor courtyard on the west side
of the fort, surrounded by high walls, is
said to have been an exercise yard
where prisoners were taken out into the
daylight to stretch their limbs.

» BERSTEER o

o

Access to the first floor is provided
either by a narrow internal stone stair-
case leading from the ground floor, or
directly via the outside terrace. The
vaulted ceilings on the first floor are
very high and grand. This floor is also
divided into four rooms, originally no
doubt intended as offices for the garri-
son command. From the latter nine-
teenth century onwards they served as
consular offices, and were fitted out by
the British with a document incinerator,
safes and lavatories. The rooms were
also fitted with fireplaces for use during
Taiwan’s chilly winters.

HTEHmBERZ /bR
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Prisoners’ exercise courtyard,
south side, Fort Santo
Domingo.

HEHWMTERERE o
Semi-basement jail cell,
Fort Santo Domingo.
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Incinerator installed by the
British, Fort Santo Domingo.
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To the left of the first floor
entrance a steep wooden staircase leads
up to the rooftop terrace. This is paved
in red tiling and rises slightly at the cen-
tre to allow rainwater to drain off. The
roof as we see it today was rebuilt by
the British—but what did it look like
during the Dutch period? An early
Dutch painting shows Fort Santo Domin-
go with a pitched roof in the manner of
other surviving Dutch castles, and this
was no doubt built of wood. The British
set about refashioning the roof in a style
closer to that of an English castle.

BEERERZRAL -

Wooden staircase to roof,
Fort Santo Domingo.

The walls surrounding the rooftop
terrace are finished with battlements
providing firing positions for rifles.
These have the distinct feature of being
built of brick and topped with flat cop-
ing stones. Similar battlements are to
be seen atop the outer terrace wall on
the south side.

HEBRTEFUBESAAR
HELR - REAR_E IR BT o
South verandah entrance &

battements topped with
coping stones.
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Interior stone stairs to

first floor, Fort Santo
Domingo.
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Another striking feature of the roof
is the pair of watchtowers which project
from the northeast and southwest cor-
ners. These provide advantageous firing
positions to counter any hostile
approach, and their field of fire covers
the hillside to the southwest and the inte-
rior of the compound to the northeast.
The construction of these watchtowers is
also of interest, as they are supported on
five stone corbels projecting from the
walls, the superstructure being of brick
with firing slits incorporated into the
walls. This stone corbel construction is
a further distinctly British architectural
feature. [Note 71

The outer terrace on the south side
is a British addition. It is likely that the
red bricks employed in its construction
were shipped across the Taiwan strait
from Amoy, their specifications being
identical to those used in building the
consular residence. This terrace also
has battlements and firing slits. It was
completely roofed over during the
Japanese colonial period, but this has
not been entirely replicated in the recent
restoration. There is ground floor
access to the interior of the fort through
the terrace. Outside the five arches set
in the terrace at ground floor level stand
four old Chinese cannon dating from
Chia-ch'ing 18 (1813).

Considered as a whole, Fort Santo
Domingo exhibits a blend of Dutch and
British architectural styles. It is sturdily
built and rises majestically on the sky-
line dominating the Tamsui River, a
silent witness to Taiwan’s historical
past.

ITEREEFREPEELL
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Southwest lookout tower
supported on corbels.
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Architecture of the British
Consular Residence
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Just to the east of Fort Santo
Domingo itself lies a fine western-style
brick building, originally the British con-
sular residence. It was built only in
Kuang-hsti 17 (1891) in true nineteenth-
century colonial style. After Hsien-feng
10 (1860) four ports in Taiwan were
opened to overseas trade and foreigners
were allowed to build accommodation in
designated residential zones. As the most
powerful imperial nation at the time,
Britain established its presence in Tai-
wan by building three consulates on the
island. The first was built at Takou
(modern Kaohsiung) in T'ung-chih 4
(1865), the second at An-p'ing (Tainan)
in the early Kuang-hsil period (1875
—1908), and the third purpose-built con-
sular residence was this one at Tamsui,
which was completed in 1891 as indicat-
ed by brick plaques in the walls. [Note
8]

Clause 11 of the Treaty of Tientsin,
signed between Britain and China in
Hsien-feng 8 (1858), made the following
stipulations:
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“In addition to the ports of Canton,
Foochow, Amoy, Ningpo and Shanghai
which have already been opened to trade
under the Treaty of Nanking, British
merchants shall henceforth be permitted
to engage freely in trade with any per-
sons and to have free access for mer-
chant shipping at the ports in Newchang,
Tengchow, Taiwan, Chaochow and
Chiungchow. The same provisions shall
apply as in the case of the five earlier
treaty ports regarding freedom to take
up residence, rent accommodation, pur-
chase accommodation, lease land, and to
construct churches, hospitals and ceme-
teries, as well as to enjoy their usufruct
and guard against damage.”

As a result large numbers of western
buildings sprang up in all the Chinese
treaty ports. Most of these were two-
storey brick constructions with colonnad-
ed verandahs running round the outside
and roofs built of wooden beams covered
with tiles. Chimney stacks projecting
from the roofs, and lawns surrounding
each building, were further characteris-
tics of these colonial-style buildings.

ARERIIMEEY
EETERHER IS
The consular residence is
brick-built in British
colonial style.

ESHEON THTH
FTHEEAFE B
BRRG RS
The former British
Consulate in Kaohsiung,
Taiwan's earliest
surviving example of
western colonial

domestic architecture.
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The British consular residence at
Tamsui was built under the consulship
of either Bourne or Holland, who
commissioned the design from a British
architect. It appears that the bricks and
the builders themselves were brought
over from Amoy. As one appreciates
the architecture of this residence one
should perhaps bear in mind the style in
which nineteenth-century British upper
class  families lived, with a spacious
living room and dining room. A study
and a workroom were also indispens-
able. Beyond the main door rises an
imposing staircase with bannisters, and a
chandelier hanging from the ceiling adds
to the atmosphere of grandeur. The gar-
den was planted with rose bushes and
was called the Rose Garden. Round the
house runs a verandah, on which after-
noon tea would have been taken.
Numerous servants, accommodated at
the back, were on call to ensure that
things always ran smoothly for the occu-
pants. [Note 9]
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The British consuls stationed a
Tamsui almost always brought their
families along with them, and so the con
sular residence possesses a large number
of rooms. It faces south and is T-shaped
in plan. The ground floor stands on a
raised foundation to prevent rising
damp, and the ground floor entrance is
placed in the centre of the south front.
From the doorway one immediately sees
the curving stairway with its fine
workmanship. At the western end of the
ground floor are a reception room and a
study, while the eastern end consists of a
dining room and a servery. At the rear
lie a laundry room and several servants
quarters. On the first floor are three
large bedrooms and a store room, with
the master bedroom lying at the western
end.

Fireplaces are installed in the recep-
tion room, dining room and master bed-
room. Accustomed to having fireplaces
in the chilly climate of Great Britain, it
was perhaps natural for the British to
bring them over with them to Taiwan.
After all, winters can also get pretty
cold here too.

ﬁﬁ%miﬁiﬁi AREE
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Panorama of the consular
residence from Fort
Santo Domingo.



- - 2 LR L
el LA L L S

SEREFELZMATAE

TR T A5 RER o

Finely carved staircase newel
post, consular residence.
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Decorative brick pillars and
cornices, consular residence.

AFEEZFRTARG
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Reconstructed furnishing of the

drawing room, consular
residence.

FAREEPRA/AIES

Staircase in central hallway,
consular residence.
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First floor bedroom, Drawing room with
consular residence. fireplace and
tiled floor, consular residence.
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The verandahs running round the
outside of the consular residence also
serve the useful purpose of providing
shelter from the hot sun and heavy rain
which characterise Taiwan's climate.
These are broad and spacious, the veran-
dah running across the south side
measuring three metres in width while
those on the east and west sides are
almost five metres wide.

Taking a closer look at the veran-
dahs, the following features are perhaps
worthy of mention:

1. The ground floor verandahs have
shallow arches whereas those on the first
floor are semi-circular. This contrast
endows the frontage with variety, while
at the same time the shallow arches
admit more light to the ground floor
rooms.

2.The brick pillars vary in size,
those at the corners being the largest
with smaller pillars in between, while
double pillars grace both sides of the
entrance. Besides lending stability to
the construction, this also produces a
pleasingly rhythmic visual effect.

3.Brick cornices project at the top
of the pillars, whose shafts stand on
solid brick bases in imitation of stone
architecture. Roll moulding is used on
both the cornices and the bases.

4.Vase-shaped green ceramic tiling
is used in the balustrades, a blend of
Chinese ceramics and western classical
design which is often seen on
nineteenth-century western buildings in
the orient.

5.0n the southern wall appear 12
plaques with relief carvings executed in
brick. These include motifs of roses
(the English national flower), together
with the royal monogram VR and the
date 1891.

6.A brick cornice runs immediately
under the eaves, while at first floor
height runs a string course. Both of
these with their intricate cog-tooth pat-
terns are fine examples of decorative
brickwaork.

sEEEEISMEZ ML
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Thistle motif in brick
carving, consular residence.
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Basement ventilation
grille with Chinese cash
motif, consular residence.
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7. The areas at the corners of the
raised foundation and below each pillar
consist of rusticated stone, forming a
pleasing contrast against the red brick.
Beneath the centre of each archway
there is a small stone grille in a Chinese

design resembling pieces of cash, which
serve to ventilate the cellars.

8. The pillars and walls are a uni-
form 1 foot 6 inches thick, a fact which
provides further confirmation that the
architect was British.
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This ensemble of decorative features
leads to a number of interesting conclu-
sions. Carved brickwork was popular in
Britain, and Chinese builders also had a
tradition of excellence in this decorative
form. It was therefore an easy matter
to bring together distinctive designs and
the requisite skilled techniques to carry
them out. The 'cash metif’ stone ventila-
tion grilles set into the raised foundation
belong to a traditional Chinese decora-
tive style, no doubt indicating that they
were the work of a Chinese stone mason.
The monogram and date VR 1891 also

have their significance here, since the
initials VR stand for Victoria Regina
and were the royal monogram of Queen
Victoria (r. 1837-1901). Important
British buildings often bear an inscrip-
tion recording the reign and date, and
the monogram VR is a common feature
of nineteenth-century British architec-
ture. The same VR monogram can be
seen on the small boundary stones erect-
ed round the Fort Santo Domingo site
marking the limits of the territory leased
to Great Britain. At the same time, this
inscription also dates the completion of
the consular residence unequivocally to
the year 1891.

Another remarkable architectural
feature is to be seen in the ceilings of
the ground floor verandahs. These con-
sist of arches of corrugated iron support-
ed on I-shaped iron beams, a building
technique only developed in the late
nineteenth century and which served as
a fire prevention measure. In the days
before reinforced concrete was known
this represented a remarkably advanced
technique. Its appearance is a consider-
able rarity in East Asia, and it marks
something of a milestone in the modern
architectural history of Taiwan. [Note
10]

EEEEIIME LKF
VRE 1891 2 X5 ©
Royal monogram VR
and date 1891

on outer wall, consular
residence.
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(Corrugated-Iron
Arches) #i& o
Corrugated iron arches
employed

in verandah ceilings,
consular residence.
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Let us turn for a moment now to the
interior fittings. The floors of the recep-
tion and dining rooms are laid with
coloured tiling which exhibits an attrac-
tive design in rich, bright colours. The
tiles are said to have come from Java.
The fireplace fittings were brought over
from Britain, and on both sides of the
fireplaces stand small decorative plaster
pillars, finely executed in nineteenth-
century neo-classical style. The winding
staircase in the entrance hall is built of
carved stone, the wooden newel-post
being an example of particularly
detailed workmanship. This is another
aspect of the atmosphere of gentility and
refinement embodied by so many of the
building’s decorative features.

One last point to be observed con-
cerns the wooden blinds fitted to either
side of the French windows throughout
the residence. These may be adjusted as
desired to protect the windows from
excessive heat or storm winds.
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Miscellaneous Artifacts Associated

With Fort

Santo Domingo
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In addition to appreciating the archi-
tecture of Fort Santo Domingo and the
former British consular residence, the
visitor's attention may be drawn to a
number of other artifacts within the
grounds. In the vicinity of the right-
hand precinct wall stand a number of
small rectangular boundary stones bear-
ing the inscription VR 1868. These mark
the boundary of the site leased by the
British in T'ung-chih 7 (1868) when Fort
Santo Domingo was taken over to house
their consulate. Another boundary stone

bears the inscription D&C. 1866. These ini-

tials refer to the British trading firm of
John Dodd & Co., which was active in

northern Taiwan during the latter nine-
teenth century as a tea exporter. Their
company may have had an old office
close to the foot of the hill on which
Fort Santo Domingo stands, and the
marker stone was probably moved to its
present site later.

Outside the southern terrace of Fort
Santo Domingo stand four old Chinese
cannons dating from the year Chia-ch’ing
18 (1813), which were part of the ar-
moury used by the Chinese naval garri-
son stationed at Tamsui at the time.
Cast-iron Chinese cannon of this vintage
were classified by their weight; 800 chin,
1,000 chin, 1,500 chin and 2,000 chin were
the most common specifications. At
Fort Santo Domingo both 800 chin and
1,000 chin cannons were employed. The
inventory of Ch'ing dynasty cannon used
in Taiwan included a number purchased
from Great Britain and Germany as well
as domestically produced versions.

FEI SRS ATR -

Chinese cast-iron cannon,

B\ BERREE -

Cast-iron cannon weighing
800 chin.



The antique western furniture inside
the former consular residence is not orig-
inal, having been assembled over recent
years since the buildings were opened to
the public. Originally there were several
Victorian cupboards remaining inside,
but these were not listed among the
items to be preserved during the recent
restoration and, most regrettably, have
since been removed. In future it is
intended that a collection of historical
documents and artifacts relating to Fort
Santo Domingo will be assembled to
enrich what is available for display. In
this way Fort Santo Domingo will in due
course become a historical site with the
additional character of a museum.
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Notes

1. Fort San Salvador, built by the
Spanish at Chilung, was square in plan
with projecting gun platforms at three
corners. Fort Zeelandia, built by the
Dutch at An-p'ing, was also square, with
an outer fortress extending from the
northwest corner which itself had pro-
jecting gun platforms. Fort Provintia
had no such gun platforms. Plans of all
these forts are available for comparison.
See the chapter 'Taiwan in old European
maps’ in Ts'ao Yung-ho: Studies in the
Early History of Taiwan.

2.Santo Domingo is the Spanish name
for the founder of the Dominican order.
It was a common Spanish practice to
name fortresses after saints. There is
another fortress of the same name in
Malacca.

3.A fragmentary account of the Dutch
rebuilding of Fort Santo Domingo is
available in Batavian jJournal, translated
into Japanese by Murakami Naojiro and
into Chinese by Kuo Hui-chung.
Batavia, modern Jakarta, was the Asian
headquarters of the Dutch East India
Company.

4.See Pickering: Old Taiwan and James
W. Davidson: Taiwan Past and Present.
Both authors describe their visits to Fort
Santo Domingo in the late nineteenth
century. Davidson reports that during
the Sino-French War of 1884 the fort
was bombarded by the French but es-
caped damage.

5.In Fujishima Ijiro: "Taiwan Journey'in
East Asian Avrchitecture, Vol.1, No.3 (in
Japanese), the author mentions the
scholarly conjecture that there might
possibly have been another fortress at
Pali, on the south bank of the Tamsui
River. See also Fujishima ljiro: Architec-
ture of Taiwan (in Japanese).

6.Poem by Lin Feng-yuan, -cited in the
local gazetteer Tan-shui t'ing-chih.

7.For British castle buildings, see Char-
les W. C. Oman: Castles of England &
Wales.

8. The British Consulate at Takou (Kao-
hsiung), built in 1865, is the oldest sur-
viving British building in Taiwan and
has been designated a historical relic of
the second rank.

9. The names of British consuls associat-
ed with the building of the consular resi-
dence at Tamsui are cited from a list of
British consuls serving during the Ch’ing
dynasty in the local gazetteer T ai-wan-
sheng tung-chih-kao, chiian 3.

10.The British consular residence at
Tamsui offers the only example in Tai-
wan of the corrugated-iron arch archi-
tectural technique, which may also be
observed in the former German consul-
ate at Hankow.
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HISTORICAL TABLE

Year Chinese chronology

1698 Wan-li 26 Dutch East India Company founded.
1604 Wan-li 32 Dutch fleet under Wybrant Van Woerwyk arrives in Penghu.
1624 T'ien-ch'i 4 The Dutch relocate from Penghu to Taiwan.
1626 T'ien-ch'i 6 The Spanish reach Keelung and build a fort.
1628 Ch'ung-chen 1 The Spanish occupy Tamsui. The Dutch assist Ming forces to attack Cheng Chin-lung.
1629 Ch'uUng-chen 2 Fort Santo Domingo first built by the Spanish.
1636 Ch'ung-chen 9 Fort Santo Domingo razed by Tamsui aborigines, rebuilt by the Spanish.
1642 Ch'ung-chen 15 The Dutch expel the Spanish from Taiwan and rebuild Fort Santo Domingo.
1644 Ch'ung-chen 17 Rebuilding in brick and stone begins July 5.
Peking occupied by Li Tzu-ch'eng, Ming dynasty falls.
1645 Ch'ung-chen 18 Rebuilding work delayed by heavy rains in Tamsui.
1646 Ch'ung-chen 19 Rebuilding of Fort Santo Domingo completed, 80 Dutch troops stationed there.
Cheng Chih-lung surrenders to the Ch'ing.
1652 Yung-li 6 Kuo Huai-i rebels against the Dutch.
1659 Yung-li 13 Cheng Ch'eng-Kung attacks Nanking.
1661 Yung-li 15 Cheng Ch'eng-Kung enters Penghu, attacks Fort Zeelandia.
1662 Yung-li 16 The Dutch Surrender to Cheng Ch'eng-Kung and withdraw from southern Taiwan.
1668 Yung-li 22 The Dutch withdraw from northern Taiwan.
1683 Yung-li 37 Tamsui garrisoned by Ho Yu.
1684 K'ang-hsi 23 Taiwan incorporated into Ch'ing empire.
1724 Yung-cheng 2 Refurbishment of Fort Santo Domingo by Wang Ch'ien, subprefectural magistrate of
Tamsui, who adds four fortified gateways.
1808 Chia-ch'ing 13 Tamsui garrisoned by Huwei naval force.
1840 Tao-Kuang 20 Keelung bombarded by British warships during Opium War.
1858 Hsien-feng 8 Treaty of Tientsin signed with Anglo-French forces.
1860 Hsien-Feng 10 Huwei opened as commercial port.
1868 T'ung-chin 7 Britain leases Fort Santo Domingo as consulate and undertakes refurbishment.
1891 Kuang-hsu 17 British consular residence constructed.
1895 Kuang-hsu 21 Sino-Japanese War ends, Taiwan ceded to Japan under Treaty of Shimonoseki.
1896 Kuang-hsu 22 British warships stationed at Tamsui to reinforce consulate defences.
1907 Kuang-hsu 33 British consulate establishes branch at Keelung.
1941 British consulate closed. Japan declares war with United States and Britain.
1945 Retrocession of Taiwan to Republic of China.
1946 British consulate reopened.
1972 Britain withdraws consul, places site under Australian, then United States management.
1980 Fort Santo Domingo formally reverts to Republic of China June 30,
becomes Ministry of Interior designated historical site.
1983 Taiwan University undertakes restoration planning, repair works committee
set up by Ministry of Interior. Assessment carried out by Council for Cultural
Planning & Development, site declared first grade historical monument.
1984 Restoration completed, site opened to public December 25.
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